Landmark Nomination for the

Rvondale Golf Club Clubhouse

(Formerly Del Safari Country Club)

Prepared for the City of Palm Desert Cultural Resources Committee

By Luke Leuschner
V3: August 2024



Table of Contentg

Property Description and LOCAtioN .......c.vuieiiieiiii e eeee e e e aens 3
Architectural Description with AIterations ........cccoviiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 6
Biography: John. F. Galbraith A.LA. ... 27
History of Del Safari Country ClUb ......ouiniiii e 44
Statement Of SIgNIfICANCE ....eiieiei e e e 55
Y o] 01T o 1= PN 57

2 of 74



Property Degcription and Location

The Avondale Golf Club is a residential development with a golf course and clubhouse
located at 75800 Avondale Drive, Palm Desert, CA. The property consists of parcels
#626030043 (91 acres), #626030044 (18.7 acres), #626030028 (7.8 acres), and
#626030033 (7 acres), totaling approximately 124.5 acres. The subject of this
application, the clubhouse, sits of APN# 626030043, which also contains a large
portion of the golf course. To the North, Avondale is bounded by Frank Sinatra Drive,
to the East by Eldorado Drive, to the South by Country Club Drive, and to the West it
shares a border with Desert Falls County Club.




The subject structure of this landmark nomination is the clubhouse, a three-story,
circular structure entered from the eastern facade by a driveway and porte cochere. Its
western facade is lined with a balcony and windows that lookout onto the expanse of
golf course. It was designed in 1969 by modern architect John Franklin Galbraith A.LA.
(see Biography). To this day it used as the club dining room, bar, lounge, and space for
club events. The three-story building is placed on an artificial hill intended to provide a
view over the expansive golf course and surrounding desert.
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The golf course is an eighteen-hole course lined with mature trees, winding golf cart
pathways, and decorative lakes as designed by Jimmy Hines. It is viewable from the
clubhouse but not the subject of this application.
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Architectural Deseription: Clubhouge

The Avondale [Del Safari] clubhouse sits atop an artificial hill with desert landscaping,
accessible by a driveway that runs to the entrance/porte cochere of the building. From
this side the circular shape of the building is not apparent:

The porte cochere on the primary facade consists of two sculptural volumes faced in
stucco, between which is a roof entryway. Almost the entire building is covered in
varying types of stucco. In the right (northern) volume is a window, and inside the
entryway to the left (south) are two rectangular cutouts:
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ALTERATION #1: ENTRYWAY

The porte cochere originally extended further outward and was lined on one wall with
wrought-iron lights. At some point in the 1990s, this section was removed and it was
simplified to the current design. The interior ceiling was also lowered for a sunken light
element. This is the most significant alteration to these structure, although the
sculptural qualities of the entryway are still preserved:
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On the southern wall of the entryway (with the cutouts), the roof is at a pitch and the
walls are fluted, reinforcing the sculptural qualities and the fortress-like aesthetic.
Attached to the front of the building is a faux turret structure which also contributes
to the fortress nature:

Looking at the northern wall of the porte cochere from below, on the left, the volume
is a solid stucco wall whose roof is angled at a slight V-shape. Three small windows are
at the top of the volume. Again, the solidness of this volume reinforces the buildings
more sculptural qualities.
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At this point the circular quality of the building becomes apparent, and the facade is a
smooth circular volume with five windows varying in sizes, each wrapped with a
sculptural stucco lip. This work recalls the homogenized Late Modern design that the
architect, John Galbraith, was working in, and which was popular in the late 1960s
Coachella Valley. Set back from this circular facade are the upper portions of the
structure, which are just simple straight walls. At this point the rear of the building, a
massive wraparound balcony covered by a massive circular overhang, is apparent:

9 of 74



The entire rear (western) facade of the structure is also completely circular in shape. It
is differentiated from the first portion of the circular structure (which is sculptural in
shape) by a dramatic overhang roof which protrudes from the footprint of the building.
On the ground floor on the northern portion of the rear is a patio area (added later)
and on the ground floor on the southern portion is the golf cart shop, with a staircase
leading to the second-story balcony. The second-story balcony protrudes and
overhangs above the ground floor, and has a simple metal guardrail. The second-story
balcony is continuous around the entire rear, except for a small storage room on the
southern end:
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ALTERATION #2: PATIO STRUCTURE

On the northern portion of the building, a small mansard roof was attached the side of
the side of the building to create a patio. The windows were also pushed out at this
point and a pergola was added over an extended patio. This is the other more
significant alteration, although it follows the existing curve of the building and could be
easily removed:
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Much of the second story is wrapped in ceiling-height windows. The entire second-story
wraparound balcony is shaded by the roof which dramatically overhangs, its beams
protruding with the roof structure visible:
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ALTERATION #3: DECORATIVE SPIRES

At the top of the main, third-story roof and the decorative turret adjacent to the
entryway were two decorative spire structures original to the Galbraith-designed
buildings. These appear to have been of metal construction and were likely removed
during a renovation in the 1990s.

Both spire structures are now missing:
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ALTERATION #4: PROTRUDING BEAMS

At some point, the roof footprint was extended to completely cover the beams that
previously protruded:
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On the southern portion of the clubhouse, between the entryway and the start of the
rear patio, is a large curved masonry wall covered in hedges, obscuring the building
infrastructure and utility and storage areas:
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ALTERATION #5: GENERAL / PAINT COLORS

Now beige, the original color of the structure was white with dark brown highlights. The
original white roof roofing material has also been replaced with a light red shingle roof.
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Although it is not immediately visible from the ground, the third-story section of the
building is wrapped with a balcony that overlooks the golf course and Coachella Valley:

Adjacent to the clubhouse is an accessory building that is not a part of this landmark
application (above). This building is covered in CMU block and has a simple shed roof
design, and was built at a later date:
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CLUBHOUSE ALTERATIONS ANALYSIS

Although the Del Safari/Avondale clubhouse has undergone aforementioned alterations
over its existence, the general idea of the Galbraith design has been preserved. It has
retained its circular shape, three-story configuration with balconies covered by a
protruding roof (supported by original wooden beams), sculptural qualities typical of
1960s/70s Late Modernism, and use as a clubhouse/center for the club it supports.

Galbraith’s design consisted of two primary elevations of the building, the eastern
portion, from which people entered the building, and the western half, which was
wrapped with balconies and was intended to look onto the golf course view. The
eastern half was highly sculptural and representative of Late Modern design trends in
the southwest which hybridized with Pueblo and Spanish Revival. This design is still
preserved and clear in the eastern half of the Avondale clubhouse. The entryway
supports are fluted, with curved cutouts, and the stucco material helps to create a
more sculptural effect. Proceeding to the rear of the building, the five windows that
wrap around the building maintain their distinctive stucco lips, and the roof volumes
above them are also irregular and sculptural. The primary alteration to this portion of
the building was the shortening of the porte cochere, and while this may have reduced
its presence as a design element, it did not deprive the building of its sculptural Late
Modern qualities.

The other distinctive portion of the building, the rear (western) elevation, also remains
true to Galbraith’s design intent. The sweeping, three-story curve of the building is still
in full effect and lined with two balconies. Dramatic beams support the protruding roof
which shades the two balconies and floor-to-ceiling windows. At the top of the building,
the circular bar third-story is preserved with its wrap-around balcony. The primary
alteration to this portion of the building was the slight extension of the roofline to fully
cover the protruding beams, and the appendage of a small bar patio roof structure to
the second-story balcony facade. While the roof extension obscured a design element
of the protruding beams, it did not alter the general expression of the dramatic circular
roof, and the protruding beams are still existent and expressed clearly in the design.
The patio roof structure, while preventing the curved facade from being fully clear,
does follow the curve of the structure and does not interrupt the curve. Moreover, it
was not a structural alteration and appears to be largely superficial, and could be easily
removed in the future.

Other features to the building that have changed, like the white paint color and roofing

material, could be easily addressed in future updates to the building, and do not affect
the general intent of Galbraith’s design.

20 of 74



CLUBHOUSE: FEATURES TO BE PRESERVED

>GENERAL
* Curved footprint of the building
* Protruding beams and roof overhang
* Stucco cladding throughout
* CMU blocks on first level
* Existing roofline and volume

>ENTRYWAY/EASTERN FACADE
* Sculptural, fluted entryway structure

* Two cutouts within porte cochere

* Placement of window on northern (tall) column of porte cochere

* Faux turret structure

* General volume and facade of northern wall of porte cochere

* Placement of five windows on curved wall (proceeding north) of two pairs of windows
and one window in center

* Stucco lips encasing five windows

>WESTERN FACADE
* Three-story configuration with wraparound balconies on the second and third floors
* Uninterrupted, sweeping curved facade
* Wooden beams and roof overhang
* Metal balcony railing on all balconies
* Placement of floor-to-ceiling windows
* Third-story bar room protruding from top of structure

NON-CONTRIBUTING FEATURES
* Current (as of 2024) beige paint color
* Red tile roof
* Patio structure, pergola, and seating area appended to western facade
* Accessory building with shed roof
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Architectural Deseription: Golf Course
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Although not subject to this landmark nomination, the Avondale golf course is a typical
18-hole Coachella Valley golf course with pastoral, flowing hills planted with decorative
trees of varying varieties (palm, pine, eucalyptus, etc) and decorated with seasonal
flowers. Basic concrete sidewalks wind around the course which has a number of lakes
original to the Jimmy Hines design. It is to be considered as part of the context of this
report but not for landmark status.
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Figure 1. John F. Galbraith in his fighter plane during WW2. Image
reproduced from Carl Molesworth, Very Long Range P-51 Mustang
Units of the Pacific War (New York: Osprey, 2006), 35.

BIOGRAPHY: John Franklin Galbraith A.LA.

Despite a successful career amid the flowering of mid-century modern design, little has
been written about the life and work of John Franklin Galbraith (1923-2012).

Galbraith was born on February 11, 1923 in Washington, D.C. to Winston William
Galbraith (1898-1978) and Lucille Crouch (1900-1988). He had one brother, Robert,
born two years later. His father appears to have worked in the bureaucracy of the
federal government, and by 1930 the family had relocated to Albuquerque where the
elder Galbraith was an accountant for the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA)." By 1940, the
family had moved again, this time to California, where the family lived in Glendale and
Winston continued to work for the BIA.2

John Galbraith, who would have graduated high school shortly before the bombing of
Pearl Harbor, was clearly bound for war service. In 1941, he entered the University of
Maryland and was a student at their School of Engineering before he enlisted in the
United States Army Air Forces in 1942.3 Galbraith became a fighter pilot (and later,
flight leader) and was sent to the Pacific battlefront in 1944 where he flew P-51

11930 U.S. Federal census.
21940 U.S. Federal census.

3 It appears that Galbraith’s family had also relocated to Silver Springs, Maryland this year, although they
were in Los Angeles for the 1940 census. At this point the Air Force was still part of the Army, and
wouldn’t become a separate entity until 1947.
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Mustangs (fig. 1). Only standing about 5’6’ and weighing 120 pounds, Galbraith didn’t
exactly appear to be a formidable soldier, but he garnered a reputation for his service
and bravery. In 1945, he was officially cited for his bravery when a group of Japanese
soldiers attacked his squadron’s camp just before dawn. Galbraith, who had woken up
to “nearly a dozen” grenades exploding around his tent, quickly took the offense and
successfully defended the camp. As was reported by various newspapers, he became a
“ground fighter” that morning.4

After the war, Galbraith (who was officially discharged in 1947) enrolled in the
University of Washington’s architecture program from which he received his Bachelor’s
in Architecture in 1949.5 Architecture programs in the United States, and particularly
along the West Coast, thrived in the post-war period. Emboldened by innovations in
material science, the rapid course of Modernism, and a massive influx of Gls,
architectural Modernism reached in zenith in those years. In particular, with its
expanding economy, population, and penchant for design, California was most poised to
reap the benefits.

In 1946, less than a year after the end of the war, Galbraith married Jeannette “Nettie”
McKenzie (1922-1997). By 1950, Galbraith was living in Southern California with a
degree in architecture, a wife, a newborn baby, and was employed as a draftsman at
the firm of Harold J. Bissner.6 His time in the office of Bissner, a seasoned architect and
Pasadena’s foremost, was clearly a major influence in the architectural development of
Galbraith. (It is unclear how he came into contact with Bissner, but it is possible that
Bissner, a WW2 veteran himself, was impressed with Galbraith's service.)

Bissner, who was working in a modern vocabulary at this point in his career, designed a
wide variety of (mostly residential) projects. In those years after the war, he was most
prominent for designing dozens of apartment buildings along Colorado Blvd and Orange
Grove Ave, many in a distinct Japanese-Modern style, but he also excelled at single-
family residential architecture (figs. 2-3). His homes of the period were of utmost
design, photographed by Julius Shulman, and frequently published in regional
architecture journals. Anyone joining Bissner's firm at this time, Galbraith included, was
clearly exposed to the development and veneration of California’s distinctive post-war
modern architecture.

Galbraith, who proceeded to become a full designer in Bissner’s firm, left in 1952 and
established his own practice. He remained in the San Gabriel Valley area of Los Angeles
County where he would design the most structures in his career. Unsurprisingly, he

4 Carl Molesworth, Very Long Range P-51 Mustang Units of the Pacific War (New York: Osprey, 2006),
35.

5 Los Angeles City Directory, 1962.
61950 U.S. Federal census.
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took up a modern style much in the mold of Bissner. His first documented project as an
independent architect was the El Monte office and manufacturing plant for Swimquip
Incorporated (1955), a simple industrial structure with a modernist office appended to
its facade, which he then expanded in 1958.7 The office portion of the project was low-
slung with a deep overhang, with a decorative cutout for palm trees. This project was
completed as the same time as his Temple City Professional Pharmacy (1955), another
modern office structure that was low-slung, had mitered windows, decorative stone
walls, and a courtyard with a roof cutout.8
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Figures 2 and 3. Harold Bissner’s residence for himself, completed in 1951 during Galbraith’s tenure. Custom, high-modern residences

like this one were what Galbraith was exposed to at his time in the office. Photographs by Julius Shulman, © J. Paul Getty Trust. Getty
Research Institute, Los Angeles (2004.R.10).

While his first documented projects may have been commercial, Galbraith’s specialty
and where he was able to showcase his talent, much like Bissner’s, was in custom
single-family homes. The first of these was his own family home in Pasadena (1954),
followed by the William Gosline house (1955), Melvin P. Knoll house (1956), Rand
Lewis house (1956), and Phil Sechler house (1958) (fig. 7). All of these homes
epitomized post-war modernism, with roof structures that were either low-slung or
post and beam, deep overhangs, decorative cutouts, walls of glass, inventive fireplaces
(a Galbraith speciality), and the use of new and simple materials.

One of Galbraith’s earliest homes, his residence for P. Melvin Knoll from 1956, is one of
his most notable. Knoll was the pharmacist who commissioned Galbraith for the Temple

7 [Untitled article], Los Angeles Times, July 3, 1955; “El Monte Firm Buys Land for Expansion,” Los
Angeles Times, November 16, 1958.

8 [Untitled article], Los Angeles Times, July 3, 1955.
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City Professional Pharmacy of the prior year, and clearly maintained a working
relationship and friendship with Galbraith. (He would also commission Galbraith for a
second, larger house in 1963.) The Knoll house was a flat-roofed structure in the
exclusive hills above Pasadena. Entering the house from a walkway with a series of
planters and cutouts, the interior was a showcase of post-war design: walls with wood
paneling, terrazzo and slate flooring, and built-in cabinetry. The living room contained a
fireplace at the center of the room with a distinct sculptural hood, from which one
could survey the backyard and view from a wall of glass. More than its design
particularities, the house also represented the larger pretensions of California
modernism. Viewed from the pool, the boundaries between the inside and outside were
blurred in a procession of stark materials and clean edges.

Eigures 4 and 5. Galbraith’s first residence for P. Melvin Knoll, completed in 1956 in the hills overlooking Pasadena. Photos by Cameron
Carothers for Deasy Penner Podley.

With communities in Los Angeles County rapidly expanding, Galbraith was among a
legion of architects delivering good design to a number of clients. While his earliest
years were filled with custom residential projects by the late 1950s he began to pick
up more commercial and institutional projects. Galbraith was accepted into the
American Institute of Architects in 1959 and had established the next phase of his
firm, John F. Galbraith and Associates, sometime in the early 1960s.9

As early as 1956, not even a decade out of architecture school, Galbraith had been
commissioned for the (unbuilt) Foothill Hospital in Monrovia.’0 In 1958, he designed the
Temple City Christian Church, a chapel with an A-frame roof structure that he would

9 “John F. Galbraith,” Pacific Coast Architecture Database, https://pcad.lib.washington.edu/person/
4386/.

10 “New Foothill Hospital Plans Unique Features,” Los Angeles Times, July 15, 1956.
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continually iterate in future church designs such as the South Pasadena Christian
Church (1961), Lutheran Church of the Cross (1964), First Christian Church in
Wilmington (1965), and the First Christian Church in Pasadena (1966) (fig. 14). The
general idea of his documented religious buildings remained the same for his career, of
an A-frame chapel with a decorative panel (sometimes of stained glass) at the end of
the structure which diffused the interior light.

Here is a sight becoming quite familiar in the Creater
Monrovis-Duarte Area...an upsurge of both residential
and industrial construction...destined to establish this
area as a center of technical progress,

Nearing completion at 950 Royal Oaks Drive, Monrowa,
is the new Headquarters of Unitek Corporation, world's
leading of Orthodonti lis widely
used by dentists in the science of straightening teeth.

FRAMEWORK OF PROGRESS

Unitek moves to Monrovia from Pasadena, where it was
first established 12 years ago.

Also housed in the modern split level building, on a 4-acre
site, will be Weldmatic, a Division of Unitek, engaged in the
design, P and production of precision el i
welding equipment,

We, at Unitek Corparation, are deeply proud to share in
thisd i hof your ¥...and look forward
to a future dedicated to progress and a finer way of life.

Unitek Corporation

950 ROYAL OAKS DR., MONROVIA, CALIFORNIA

Figure 6. An advertisement touting Galbraith’s design for the
Unitek Corporation in Monrovia, a quintessentially modern
structure of the post-war period. Reproduced from the Daily News
Post, December 28, 1959.

Galbraith also continued designing corporate structures, typically combinations of
manufacturing and office uses. The Unitek Corporation building in Monrovia, completed
1959, was a prime example of this area of his work. Unitek was a company that
specialized in the manufacture and design of Orthodontic equipment before shifting to
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“precision electronic welding equipment” in the growing military-industrial complex of
post-war California. Galbraith’s high-tech offices for the firm were designed in a “clean,
uncluttered look that will remain in good taste for years to come” (fig. 6).1" Galbraith
was responsible for similar structures for the Fortifiber Corporation in Memphis, TN
(1959), National Rain Bird in Azusa (1964), and two locations for the California Water
and Telephone Company (1966).

YEAR-ROUND VACATION HOUSE
IN CALIFORNIA

The spectacular view from the site of this vacatior
house at Running Springs, Calif.,, near the Lake
Arrowhead resort area, reaches from Palm Springs
n the East to San Diego on the South and to Laguna
Jeach and Catalina Island on the West. Both living
n and kitchen open toward this view; the wide
is for sleeping as well as for enjoying the view
The plan was based on building the house in twe
hen and bath first, I
rdar siding is use

ed dark char

lace and certain details are coral

k. Radiant heat from the fireplace hood
wdequately heats the entire 1100-sq-ft-house. John F

Galbraith, architec

Rolland Lee photos

32-4 ARCHITECTURAL RECORD July 1960 WESTERN SECTION

Eigure 6. Galbraith’s modern design for a home overlooking the Antelope Valley.
Reproduced from Architectural Record, July 1960.

Despite larger projects coming into his office at this time, Galbraith continued designing
custom homes for which his prowess was frequently cited. From the 1950s until the
mid-1960s, his homes were almost incessantly chosen as the “Home of the Week” in
the Pasadena Independent Star-News (see next page). Indeed, one of Galbraith’s
residential clients at the time noted how in selecting an architect she and her husband
“didn’t know who we might want, so | went to the Pasadena A.l.A. office and they
showed me their newspapers files on the homes... [a] lot of the things John Galbraith
had done were something of what we had in mind.”12 These homes included the David
A. Thomas house (1960), C. A. Stanley house (1960), Robert Culp house (1960),
Charles Snider house (1961), Leonard Weeks house (1961) (fig. 9), Bartley Cannell

11 “Unitek Corp. Occupies New Monrovia Factory in February,” Daily News Post, December 28, 1959.
12 Margaret Stovall, “Home of the Week,” Independent Star-News, March 18, 1962.

32 of 74



house (1962), W. W. Galbraith house (1962), and a second house for P. Melvin Knoll
(1963), all in the San Gabriel Valley region. As before, these homes exhibited utmost
modern design, with the exception of the Cannell house (1962) (fig. 8), which was
designed in a modernized Hollywood Regency style. His ca. 1960 vacation home for an
unknown client in Hidden Springs, CA, published in Architectural Record that year, was
a hillside structure with two volumes that formed a butterfly roof which accentuated
the site and looked upon the desert of the Antelope Valley (fig. 6).13

HOME OF THE WEEK T

HOME OF THE WEEK

HOME OF THE WEEK

HOME OF THE WEEK

HOME OF THE WEEK

HOME OF THE WEEK |

HOME OF THE WEEK

13 “Year-Round Vacation House in California,” Architectural Record, July 1960.
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Figure 7. Original rendering for the Phil Sechler house’s
kitchen. Reproduced from the Daily News, July 18, 1963.

Figure 8. The Bartley Cannell residence in La Canada Flintridge,
completed in 1962. Photograph by Maynard Parker, courtesy of
Huntington Library digital collections. .

Figure 9. The Leonard Weeks residence in Carmel, completed in 1961. Photograph by Maynard
Parker, courtesy of Huntington Library digital collections.
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Galbraith had worked with at least one tract developer as early as 1960, when he
created three designs for Harmony Homes, a company which would build its homes on
any lot provided by a client.# Galbraith’s designs for the Harmony Homes were rather
basic and inexpensive houses in a Ranch style ubiquitous of low-cost tract housing, and
it is unclear how many of them were built. It is surprising, then, that the arguably most
inventive and distinctive design of Galbraith’s career arose from another alliance with a
tract house developer. Between the late-1940s and mid-1960s, numerous developers
allied with talented architects to deliver showcase homes that touted new materials
and design, often sponsored by building corporations. The prime example of this was
the Case Study Houses, the series of thirty-six houses designed by leading modernists
for Arts & Architecture magazine between 1945 and 1966. Despite the high design
and incredible visitation of the Case Study Houses, their modernist vocabulary never
quite caught on to the developers of California’s endless subdivisions, and low-cost
homes like the Harmony Homes proliferated.

A less frequently cited example of this was the Horizon Homes Program as sponsored
by the concrete industry. In the first two years of its existence in the early 1960s, a
reported 200,000 people visited its eleven model homes in Southern California, and
many more were reported to have visited other Horizon Homes across the natoin.’5 In
1963, Galbraith was selected to design one of the Horizon Homes for the Laguna
Niguel Corporation, which was was using the program to showcase a subdivision of
homes designed by George Bissell.'6¢ The house, which sat on a prominent site
overlooking the beach, was a completely circular home with a wavy, cantilevered pre-
cast concrete roof structure, supported only by a central core (figs. 10-11). Except for
a few partitions, the edge of the circular was completely wrapped in glass and covered
by the floating roof, sixty feet in diameter. The central core doubled as a chimney with
a sculptural fireplace hood reminiscent of earlier Galbraith works, around which the
living space was peppered with furniture by the likes of Harry Bertoia, Eero Saarinen,
and the Eames. The home was the showpiece of the 1964 Horizon Homes Program,
sponsored jointly by a number of concrete companies, and included all the latest
innovations in building materials and science. In the first three weeks of the annual
program, more than 5,000 people visited Galbraith’s design.!”

14 “Seven Different Models Spring from Three Basic Plans, American Builder, September 1960, 156-157.
15 “Site Chosen for Concrete Home,” Los Angeles Times, June 30, 1963.

16 |bid; Larry Washburn, “New Home on Horizon,” Independent Star-News, June 30, 1963. While George
Bissell was involved in the engineering and construction of the home, he is frequently and erroneously
cited as the architect of the home, and Bissell himself has reiterated that Galbraith was responsible for
the design. See Dave Weinstein, “Little Gem with History,” Eichler Network, n.d., https://
www.eichlernetwork.com/article/little-gem-history?page=0,5.

17 “Horizon Homes Proves Big Attraction,” Anaheim Bulletin, May 16, 1964.
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The Laguna Company’s
Horizon Home

in Laguna Niguel

is open now o

that's full of idess. It quali-  the delicate beauty of a scallop shell,

: fies as a Horizon Home Concrete materiais for the house were
because it takes full advantage of the  gupplied by: Livingston.Graham, Inc.;
freedom modern concrete brings to home  Oreo Block, Stanton and Artlo Cast Stens
desgn. Company, Orange.

A:% Here's a fook ahead house Yet, its thin shell construction achievos al
|

This home is in the Laguna Company’s.
Niguel West section overlooking the EI
Niguel Country Club golf course. Glass.
walls surround the house, letting in the
view from all sides. An eght-foct concrets
core contains all utiiites and supports the
concrete shell roof. The roof requires no
additional losd - bearing walls.

Rooms are divided by concrete masonry
wing walls radiating from the central core,
Three of these walls extend cutside the
house to form functional windbresks,

The home is basically a combination
orecast and cast-in place concrete “mush.
00m™ of unsurpassed strength and sta-
bility. Fire, weather and termite resistant,
1t is & major step forward in the develop-
ment of minimum maintenance housing.

The wolcome mat is cut. Clip the map
and drive to the Niguel Wes! Horizon Home,
31911 Natonal Park Drive, Laguna Niguel,
Open 9to 5 daily.
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Figures 10 and 11. The Horizon Home as designed by Galbraith and engineered by George Bissell, completed in 1964 to much fanfare.

Likely through connections and his reputation made through his church designs,
Galbraith also became increasingly involved in the design of buildings for religious
colleges throughout Southern California, particularly Biola University, Chapman
University, and Loyola Marymount University. His first documented project of this type
was Morlan Hall, a dormitory at Chapman University completed in 1963.78 Morlan Hall,
expanded in a second phase in 1965, was a two- and three-story structure of simple
pink-hued brick with long horizontal corridors that centered around a communal
courtyard. Galbraith followed this design with the Alpha Hall (1965) and the Men’s
Residence Hall (1966) at Biola University, which although designed in his ubiquitous
modern style, did not have design language as robust as Morlan Hall.

Galbraith designed at least two non-residential structures for universities during this
period, including the Student Union at Biola University (1966) and the Leavey Faculty
Center (1968) on the Loyola Marymount University campus. The former, a low-slung
brick structure, was contemporary with Galbraith’s other simple modern work for the
campus. His Leavey Faculty Center, however, exhibited a new direction in his work that
was consistent with larger shifts in Southern Californian architecture. By the late
1960s, the formal modernism of the post-war period was developing into the Late

18 “New Quarters Soon Ready at Chapman,” Anaheim Gazette, July 25, 1963.
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Modern style which was not as rational and was more willing to embrace irregular
forms. In California, this Late Modern style also took on a more organic ethos, with the
use of more regional materials for exterior cladding. Such was the case with Galbraith’s
Leavey Faculty Center, which lacked the sharp edges of his Unitek Corporation building
(1959) and was instead designed to evoke a more Southwestern palette, with stucco-
clad volumes, sculptural window openings, and decorative copper elements. Despite its
ubiquity in Southern California, it is difficult to label the style of projects like the
Leavey Faculty Center, which was a hybridization of Late Modern with Southwestern
styles such as Spanish and Pueblo Revival. Galbraith had shown his progression towards
this style with his First Christian Church in Pasadena, completed in 1966, which was
another iteration of his typical A-frame church.® In this design, however, the exterior
walls of the structure were sculptural and stucco-clad, and the roof was covered in
brown shingles — again, a vague and increasingly Late Modern hybridization with
California’s more historicist styles.

R
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The Morlan Hall at Chapman University (left) and the Leavey Faculty Center at Loyola Marymount University, two
examples of Galbraith’s educational work, with the latter exhibiting his changing design. Images provided courtesy of their respective
institutions.

One of Galbraith’s last documented commissions, and the subject of this report, was
his 1969 design for the Del Safari Country Club. Although the Palm Springs architect
William Cody was the initial architect for the development and designed a rough
scheme, Galbraith replaced him and was responsible for the design of all of Del Safari’s
buildings, including the clubhouse, gate house, and an initial phase of condominiums. It
was the first documented country club-type project that Galbraith had worked on. The
development, capitalizing on its desert locale and following the precedent of other

19 “Church Plans Ceremony for Building,” Independent Star-News, November 6, 1966.
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themed developments, was designed to embody an African motif. While Galbraith’s
gatehouse was a simple stucco structure with a red-tile roof and his condominium plans
appear to have been abandoned, his clubhouse for the development was singular: a
massive circular clubhouse set atop an artificial hill overlooking the expanse of desert
and golf course. More than any of his other designs, it was a hybridization of many
styles, but the three-story clubhouse was primarily intended to evoke a fortress-type
structure.

As a whole, the circular building was divided into two parts: a sculptural entryway
(eastern facade) and the dramatic three-story facade looking out onto the golf course
(western facade). On the entrance side of the building (eastern facade) the building
was highly sculptural, with irregular curved volumes surrounding the covered entryway.
Moving north along the curve of the building, windows were framed with sculptural
elements protruding from the smooth stucco wall. Opposite the entrance side of the
building (western facade) was the main portion of the building, a circular three-story
facade with a wraparound balcony on the second and third stories. The roofs on the
second and third stories had an overhang (complete with protruding beams) to shade
the patios below. Design motifs meant to evoke a fortress were added throughout,
including a turret above the entryway and decorative metal detailing. The entire
structure was topped with a spire meant to evoke a wooden structure, and a small
version was also placed on top of the turret.

Figure 14. The First Christian Church in Pasadena, designed in 1966 by
Galbraith, showing his shift towards the Late Modern hybrid. Photo from
Irenic Projects.
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The clubhouse, which was completed in the early winter of 1970, is Galbraith’s last
documented project as an architect. Although it departed from his earlier, formally
modern designs, various components of the Del Safari clubhouse can be found in his
previous works. The idea of a circular structure supported by a central column can first
be found in his Horizon Home (1963), and the sculptural qualities of the building were
first explored in micro for the fireplaces of the Knoll house (1956) and Horizon House
(1963), and then dramatically expanded in his work on the First Christian Church in
Pasadena (1966) (fig. 14) and Leavey Faculty Center (1968). Even the central spiral
staircase which leads to the third story of the Del Safari clubhouse also bears a striking
resemblance to that of the First Christian Church.

Beyond his Del Safari project, which was clearly one of the largest of his career, little is
known and documented about Galbraith. Mentions of his projects all but disappeared
from the papers that used to celebrate his work, and after Del Safari he either entered
a state of retirement or at least took on less publicized projects. His A.l.A. membership
had lapsed in 1965 and he did not renew it. Galbraith died in 2012. He had no known
archive nor have there been any studies of his work. This partial catalog of his work has
been constructed through research, though it is certainly an incomplete picture of this
California modernist:

>1954

John and Nettie Galbraith House
Demolished

1262 Hartwood Point Drive, Pasadena, CA

>1955

Temple City Professional Pharmacy
Standing

9676 E Las Tunas Rd, Temple City, CA

Swimquip Inc Building

Standing (partially demolished)
3301 Gilman Rd, El Monte, CA
Expanded in 1958

William J. Gosline House
Demolished
1600 Highland Oaks Dr, Arcadia, CA

>1956

Foothill Hospital
Unbuilt
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Monrovia, CA

Rand Lewis House
Standing
3170 Mesaloa Ln, Pasadena, CA

P. Melvin Knoll House #1
Standing
2105 Villa Heights Rd, Pasadena, CA

>1957
Unknown Home
3605 Canon Blvd, Altadena, CA

>1958

Temple City Christian Church
Standing

9723 Garibaldi Ave, Temple City, CA

Phil Sechler House
Standing
2804 E California Blvd

>1959

Unitek Corporation

Demolished

950 Royal Oaks Dr, Monrovia, CA

Fortifiber Company
Undetermined
Memphis, TN

Paul A. Cox House
Standing
534 Arroyo Dr, South Pasadena, CA

>1960

Harmony Homes
Undetermined

San Bernardino, CA

David A. Thomas House
Standing
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2045 Elkins PI, Arcadia, CA

Unknown House
Standing
2375 Vosburg St, Pasadena, CA

C. A. Stanley House
Undetermined
Pasadena, CA

Robert and Mary Culp House
Undetermined
La Canada, CA

Unknown House
Undetermined
Antelope Valley, CA

>1961

Charles Snider House
Standing

2116 Canyon Rd, Arcadia, CA

South Pasadena Christian Church
Standing
1316 Lyndon St, South Pasadena, CA

Leonard Weeks House
Undetermined
Carmel, CA

>1962

W. W. Galbraith House

Standing

463 N Canyon Blvd, Monrovia, CA

Samuel Bartley Cannell House
Standing (altered)
567 Meadow Grove St, La Canada Flintridge, CA

>1963

Morlan Residence Hall at Chapman University
Standing
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575 N Center St, Orange, CA

P. Melvin Knoll House (2)
Standing
2147 Villa Heights Rd, Pasadena, CA

>1964

Lutheran Church of the Cross
Standing

66 W Duarte Rd, Arcadia, CA

National Rain Bird Co
Undetermined
N Grand Ave, Glendora, CA

>1965

Alpha Hall at Biola University
Standing

Biola University Campus

First Christian Church
Standing
444 E Lomita Blvd, Wilmington, CA

>1966
Men’s Residence Hall at Biola University
Undetermined

California Water and Telephone Company, Pacoima
Undetermined
13461 Van Nuys Blvd, Pacoima, CA

California Water and Telephone Company, Sepulveda
Undetermined
Near Sepulveda and Nordhoff

Student Union at Biola University
Standing
Biola University Campus

First Christian Church

Standing
789 N Altadena Dr, Pasadena, CA
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>1967
Unknown House [needs further confirmation]
1275 Old Mill Rd, San Marino, CA

>1968

Leavey Faculty Center, Loyola Marymount College
Standing

[Now Collins Faculty and Alumni Center]

Rosedale Plaza Shopping Center
Demolished
Huntington Dr at Alta Vista Ave, Monrovia, CA

1975

Unknown House

Standing

1901 Gibraltar Rd, Santa Barbara, CA

[Noted in real estate listing, needs further confirmation]

UNKNOWN
Richard Woodard House
La Canada Flintridge, CA

43 of 74



Figure 15. Bud McLachlan, Burt Graham, and George Glickley place the
flag for the ninth hole on the sand dune that would become Del Safari,
in June of 1970. Photo: Historical Society of Palm Desert.

HISTORY: Del Safari Country Club

In the beginning of 1969, George Glickley (1919-2012) and Burton “Burt” Graham
(1911-1998) set about materializing a lush dream of leisure and exclusivity from 240
acres of sandy desert. The land was located in the northern stretches of Palm Desert
(still a few years away from incorporation) and had never been previously developed.
They purchased the land from Sophia Maloof, a long-time resident and businesswoman
of Palm Springs who had owned the land for some time.2% Maloof (or a predecessor)
had picked up the land from Southern Pacific Railroad, the railroad ever eager to
liquidate their desert land in the Coachella Valley in the years before country clubs
were even thinkable.21

Glickley and Graham, both of whom had made a fortune in the steel business in
Chicago, had been had been lifelong friends, business partners, and seasonal residents

20 “|_uxurious Golf Club Due Soon,” Desert Sun, March 4, 1969.

21 Historic land patents show that this section of land had been given by the government to the Southern
Pacific Railroad as part of the company’s deal with the government.
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of the Coachella Valley. Since the late 1940s, they were both co-owners of the Modern
Steel Heat Treating Company and, in shortly after the club’s opening in 1959, had
purchased neighboring homes in the Bermuda Dunes Country Club.22 The Coachella
Valley’s newfound fame in the post-war decades had propelled so many like them —
successful businessmen seeking a winter retreat — to buy into new country clubs with
their swank golf courses, condominiums, and clubhouses. Glickley and Graham quickly
settled into this crowd, and newspaper clippings from the 1960s are rife with mentions
of their golf scores, communal dinners at the clubhouse, and other pursuits of the good
life.

AERIAL and ground-level photos of Bermu- Rusty Glickley, left, and Jane Graham.
da Dunes Airport, only golf course landing Glicllay and Graham, fairway home

field west of the Mississippi, are being
lensed this week by Chicagoans George
Glickley, left, and Bert Graham, partners
in the ownership and operation of the

owners at Bermuda Dunes Country Clubi)
will use the photos to promote interest
in Bermuda Dunes Airport during a na-
tion-wide aerial junket to begin next

airport. With them are their wives, week. e

Figure 16. George Glickley and Burt Graham at their joint operation,
the Bermuda Dunes Airport. Reproduced from the Desert Sun, May
31, 1963.

Only a few years after buying their homes in the Bermuda Dunes Country Club, and
likely witnessing the fortunes being made from desert expanses, Glickley and Graham
began to turn their attention towards real estate. Between 1962 and 1963, Glickley
and Graham partnered with the owners of BDCC, Ryan Ryan and Ernie Dunlevie, to
develop the Bermuda Dunes Airport, a private airport adjacent to the club and intended

22 [Untitled article], Desert Sun, November 16, 1962.
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for the use of homeowners like themselves (fig. 16).23 Shortly thereafter, in 1965,
they were instrumental in negotiating the purchase of the Bermuda Dunes Country Club
from Ryan and Dunlevie by a consortium of club members.24 Glickley became the club’s
new president for the following two years, and the development ambitions of him and
his closest friend, Graham, were clearly growing.

As legend has it, Glickley once “had to wait an hour or so for a tee time” at BDCC, and
while using the time to get a haircut, had learned of a bare patch of land for sale from
the manicurist at the barber shop. And so, the idea of his own country club was born.25
The reality, however, is that Glickley and Graham had been scheming such a plan for
many years. They were both clearly interested in development in the Coachella Valley,
were familiar by then with development patterns, and had experience in managing and
financing a golf course operation through their tenure at BDCC. In the announcement
for the future club, it was noted that it was “five years in the mind” of Glickley and
Graham, and the land was nearby to the BDCC.26

Glickley and Graham’s interest in developing a country club also fit a larger trend of
development that was happening in the Coachella Valley in the late 1960s and early
1970s. While golf had a presence in the Coachella Valley since the 1920s with the
opening of a course at Palm Springs’ El Mirador Hotel followed by the O’Donnell Golf
Club, it had taken on a new potency and desirability in the years after World War II.
Prior to the war, courses were typically smaller, standalone operations with no
residential component.2? This was revolutionized, however, in 1951 with the opening of
Thunderbird Country Club as developed by Johnny Dawson. With eighteen holes, not
only was it the first full sized course in the Coachella Valley, but it combined the
popular amenity of golf with a residential component. Modern and expensive homes
faced the golf course, and residents, which grew more prominent by the year, had the
privilege of frequenting a clubhouse. For the first time, all of the popular and sellable
amenities in the Coachella Valley — clubs, sports, seasonal homes, and architecture —
were combined into a single development.28 Thunderbird was a highly successful
venture and catalyzed the development of dozens of golf courses in the following
years.

Capitalizing on this new model and supplied with thousands of acres of desert land,
developers set about remaking the Coachella Valley. The first distinct wave of

23 [Untitled article], Los Angeles Times, April 14, 1963.

24 “Members Own Bermuda Dunes,” Desert Sun, January 31, 1966.

25 Avondale Golf Club, “Our 50th Anniversary,” https://www.avondalegolfclub.com/legacy.
26 “l uxurious Golf Club Due Soon,” Desert Sun, March 4, 1969.

27 Tracy Conrad, “Golden Days of Desert Golf,” Desert Magazine, April 2012.

28 Melissa Riche, “Thoroughly Modern Cody,” Palm Springs Life, February 10, 2020, https://
www.palmspringslife.com/thunderbird-country-club-rancho-mirage/.

46 of 74



development occurred from the mid-1950s to the early-1960s, and included such
developments as the Tamarisk Country Club (1952), Eldorado Country Club (1956),
Indian Wells Country Club (1957), Shadow Mountain Golf Club (1958) Bermuda Dunes
Country Club (1959), La Quinta Country Club (1959), Palm City [Palm Desert Country
Club] (1961), and Seven Lakes Country Club (1964). These developments all repeated
the Thunderbird model of a full-sized golf course lined with residences, centered around
a clubhouse, and populated/maintained by an exclusive club organization.2® Moreover,
while they capitalized on the celebrity and popularity of Palm Springs, they were all
concentrated in the less developed, eastern portions of the Coachella Valley.

In this first wave of country club, architecture became a key component. Clubhouses
were designed by modernist architects such as William Cody, Donald Wexler, and
Richard Harrison, and the estate-sized homes were similarly well-designed. These clubs
embraced a more refined, simpler vision of architectural modernity: clean edges and
glass walls that faced artificially green expanses and looming mountains. Increasingly,
however, country clubs began to develop condominiums as a more affordable
alternative to custom-built estate lots. Shadow Mountain Golf Club and Bermuda Dunes
Country Club, for instance, were each built with condominiums facing their course, with
both developments hiring the modernist architect Richard Harrison.

Central to the growing world of golf in the Coachella Valley was James “Jimmy” Hines
(1903-1986), a professional golfer turned course designer and developer.30 Hines
began his golf career in the 1920s and 1930s as a golf course assistant and
professional in the East Coast. He played in the leading national tournaments through
the 1930s, was the two-time winner of the Los Angeles open, and was even selected
for the 1939 Ryder Cup team.3? When Thunderbird Country Club opened in 1951, Hines
was brought on by developer Dawson to be the course’s golf pro.32 Dawson, continuing
his success with Thunderbird, developed a series of courses in the decades following
and frequently partnered with Hines. Beyond Thunderbird, the two worked together on
the Pauma Valley Country Club (1958) in Escondido and Eldorado Country Club in
Indian Wells (1958). Hines also began developing courses on his own, and was a leader
in the consortiums that produced the Royal Lahaina Golf Club (1961) in Maui an the
Desert Air Club (1968) in Rancho Mirage. Dawson and Hines’ developments were at the
forefront of larger trends in golf courses happening in Southern California and beyond.

29 Renee Brown, “How the Coachella Valley Became a Golfer’s Paradise,” Desert Sun, June 8, 2017,
https://www.desertsun.com/story/life/2017/06/08/how-coachella-valley-became-golfers-paradise/
380877001/.

30 Obituary for James Hines, Los Angeles Times, May 14, 1986.
31 |bid.

32 “New Thunderbird Golf Course Open Thursday For Play by Members,” Palm Springs News, January
23, 1951.
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Golf course development, along with development in general in the Coachella Valley,
dampened in the mid-1960s. One exception was Dawson’s Seven Lakes Country Club in
Palm Springs, which opened in 1964, but otherwise the initial boom cooled off. As the
1970s approached, the architecture and development patterns of the Coachella Valley
were also shifting from the refined modernism of the post-war years to a swankier,
more fantastical aesthetic typical of the work of Arthur Elrod. The sleekness of the
1950s was being replaced by architecture that was more historicist and “exotic,”
layered with shag rug excesses while still pandering to long-established patterns of
leisure and exclusivity.

Another distinct period of golf course development began in the late 1960s and
continued into the early 1970s. As before, these followed the country club model with
facilities for golf (as well as tennis and other elite sports), a clubhouse, and residences.
The condominium — the novelty of which had worn down in the 1960s — became the
staple of many of these new country clubs. Dawson began developing the Marrakesh
Country Club (1969) in Palm Desert while Hines was working on his Desert Air Club in
Rancho Mirage (1968). Other developers were working on Eldorado West (1969),
Mission Hills, (1969), Lago La Quinta (1969), La Cortina Country Club (1969,
ultimately unbuilt), and Ironwood Country Club (1974).33

It was in the midst of this resurgence in golf course development that Glickley and
Graham acquired their land and set about developing a country club of their own. In
March of 1969, the project was officially announced as The Safari Country Club and
was intended to be a country club with an eighteen-hole golf course, clubhouse, and
condominiums. To design the clubhouse they had initially brought on the famed Palm
Springs modernist William Cody, who was known for country club work. He had
designed the Eldorado clubhouse and updated the Thunderbird clubhouse for its grand
1951 reopening, in addition to dozens of custom-built estate homes in country clubs
across the Coachella Valley. To design the complementary golf course, Glickley and
Graham enlisted none other than Hines, who was noted as the “top golf course layout
expert” in the announcement.34 While Hines was responsible for the design of the
course, he was assisted by engineer J. D. Kilpatrick and builder Cal Hardin in its
execution.3>

In the spring of 1969, Graham and Glickley worked out details and plans for their
project. They formed the M.G.G. Corporation to finance the project, bringing other
investors into the endeavor: Daniel “Bud” McLachlan, George Harmon, and, later, Earl

33 John Beath, “$200 Million Tempo in Upper Valley Growth,” Desert Sun, December 29, 1969.
34 “Luxurious Golf Club Due Soon,” Desert Sun, March 4, 1969.

35 “Del Safari Golf Course Attracts North, South,” special Del Safari edition of the Desert Sun, February
9, 1974; “New Major Golf Project Planned,” Palm Desert Post, May 29, 1969.
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Temple.36 (“M.G.G.” was an acronym of the names of McLachlan, Graham, Glickley.) In
addition, the concept of the club was worked out, which was renamed to be the Del
Safari Country Club. William Cody, who had developed an initial scheme, was replaced
for unknown reasons with another talented modern architect, John F. Galbraith, and the
initial construction permits were filed.37

.........

Figure 17. Marrakesh Country Club which began construction in 1968 as designed by John Elgin Woolf.
Marrakesh, with its hybrid Hollywood Regency and African motifs, also embodied the second wave of
more “exotic” country club developments. Photo: Desert Beautiful Slide Collection, Historical Society of
Palm Desert.

What differentiated the Del Safari concept and this new phase of golf course
development from its predecessors was its emphasis on themed environments. While
the country clubs of the 1950s and early 1960s were simpler, refined manifestations
of modernism, the developments of the late 1960s and early 1970s were frequently
intended to be exciting and “exotic.” Such was the case for the Del Safari, which was
to be built in a homogenized “African motif.”38 The clubhouse and condominiums were
intended to evoke a modernistic African fortress, streets were named after places in
Africa (e.g. “Tandika Trail,” “Kilimanjaro Drive,” “Sweetwater Drive,” and “Monzambique

36 “Rapid Pace of Construction in PD Hastens Del Safari Development Project,” Palm Desert Post,
October 2, 1969.

37 Riverside County Building Permit #BZ169556, May 8, 1969.
38 |bid.
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Drive”), and the main decorative lake abutting the golf course was named “Lake
Victoria” for the African namesake. Even the main guardhouse, complementing the
seven-foot barbed wire fence that wrapped the development, had a gate adorned with
spear motifs (fig. 18). Marrakesh Country Club (fig. 17), which was kicked off in Palm
Desert shortly before Del Safari, was conceptualized to mimic a Moroccan aesthetic,
which the architect John Elgin Woolf creatively hybridized with the Hollywood Regency
style. Similarly, La Cortina, announced shortly after the Del Safari, was intended to have
an "early Californian” Spanish atmosphere.
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Figure 18. The original guardhouse with its decorative spear-capped gates. Photo: Historical Society of

Palm Desert.

The M.G.G. Corporation received their first permit in May of 1969 to construct a well
and pump to supply water to their development while plans were worked out for the
clubhouse. Shortly thereafter, in July of that year, they received the permits to begin
construction on the clubhouse and golf course. The clubhouse, valued at $300,000
(though the final figure was likely higher), was built by Aljac Construction Company.3°
Construction began on the clubhouse in September of 1969 after site preparations,
and by December of 1969 its decorative spire was being lowered into place. The golf
course, a sweeping and expansive eighteen-hole course lined with trees and two lakes
as designed by Hines, was completed just as construction was picking up on the
clubhouse in the fall of 1969. The pace of construction moved at a surprisingly fast

3¢ Riverside County Building Permit #BZ171323, July 15, 1969.
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rate. The golf course was opened for play in January of 1970, and the clubhouse was
completed in March, not even a year after Glickley and Graham closed escrow on the
land, and less than six months since construction commenced.40

Figure 19-22. The clubhouse and surrounding golf course shortly after their completion in early 1970. The clubhouse, designed to
mimic an African fortress, was elevated and stood out starkly against the barren desert. Photos: Historical Society of Palm Desert.

40 “New Golf Club Open,” Desert Sun, March 4, 1969; Riverside County Building Permit #BZ171323, July
15, 1969.
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Once completed, the clubhouse epitomized the swanky excesses of the 1960s. It was a
themed environment with a hybridized modern/African building, from which one could
look out onto the golf course and desert expanse from either the club’s grand dining
room or rooftop bar.4! As the sales director said at the time, “what we have done is to
bring forth a total environment of living.”42 The new golf course, which one columnist
hailed as “beautiful... particularly the back nine which has some demanding holes,” was
supported by the new golf pro, Fred Scherzer.43

Figure 23-26. The golf shortly after its completion in early 1970 as designed by Jimmy Hines, showing Lake Zanzibar and its
expansive, pastoral nature. Photos: Historical Society of Palm Desert.

41 The rooftop cocktail bar went by a variety of names. At varying points it was referred to as the “Crow’s
Nest,” “Top of the Mark,” and “Zanzibar Room.”

42 “Del Safari Fits Tone of Desert,” Desert Sun, December 17, 1971.

43 “Ed Vines at Del Safari as Director of Sales,” Desert Sun, September 21, 1970; “Braven Dyer,” Desert
Sun, January 30, 1970.

52 of 74



While the construction of the golf course and clubhouse sped along, the residential
component proceeded at a languid pace. The golf course and clubhouse were
completed before a single house was built. It was the initial plan to develop some 250
condominium units, also designed by Galbraith, but these plans fell through.44 In the fall
of 1970, work started on twenty-one townhouses.45 By the end of 1971, only six
“executive homes” were completed and half of the townhouses were ready for
occupancy (fig. 27). Then, in 1972, Graham and Glickley announced another
$2,000,000 round of residential development for some forty units that were
completed at the end of the year.46

n

MAY

Eigure 27. The townhouse units built in 1971, which were only a few of the
original quantity intended. It is unclear if these were also designed by
Galbraith. Photo: Historical Society of Palm Desert.

The new construction campaign, however, was not enough to make the project pencil
out, and by the mid-1970s the project was plagued with financial issues. In the
mid-1970s, a bank took possession of the development and it was then auctioned to
Williams “Bill” Stephens in 1979. In 1986, Stephens renamed the club “Avondale Golf
Club” to “reflect his British heritage,” before it was sold to a consortium of its
members in 1990.47

44 “New Major Golf Project Planned,” Palm Desert Post, May 29, 1969.
45 “Ed Vines,” Desert Sun, 1971.

46 “Club Plans $2 Million Expansion,” Los Angeles Times, July 9, 1972; “Del Safari Club Into 3rd
Successful Season,” Desert Sun, December 15, 1972.

47 Avondale Golf Club, “Our 50th Anniversary,” https://www.avondalegolfclub.com/legacy.

53 of 74



Apart from its financial distress in the mid-1970s, members made ample use of its
clubhouse, course, and facilities. The Club golf tournaments, was eventually built out
with residences, and its clubhouse held all the social events expected of such a
clubhouse. The Avondale Golf Club is a surviving example of a distinct era in the
late-1960s Coachella Valley, in which architecture, themed environments, and money
combined to form clubs like itself.

Figure 28. The Galbraith-designed clubhouse in the mid-1970s, a few years into its existence. Photo:
Historical Society of Palm Desert.
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Statement of Significance

Criterion A: Is associated with an event or events that have made a significant
contribution to broad patterns of history.

Clubhouse: The clubhouse is not associated with a specific event or events
related to Palm Desert’s history. It entertained the expected parties and events
of a clubhouse but nothing that rose to a level of notability. Therefore the
clubhouse does not appear eligible under this category.

Criterion B: Is associated with the lives of persons significant in the past.

Clubhouse: The clubhouse is not associated with any particularly significant
person. While its developers, Glickley and Graham, were prominent businessmen,
they were among many of their kind in the Coachella Valley. Therefore the
clubhouse does not appear eligible under this category.

Criterion C: Embodies distinctive characteristics, or is one of the few remaining

examples of a style, type, period or method of construction or possesses high artistic

Clubhouse: While the clubhouse is the work of a master architect, its style is a
hybrid of many (Late Modern, Neo-African, Southwestern, etc.) and cannot be
attached to a single given style. Therefore it is not exemplar of a particular style
because it does not have one. Therefore the clubhouse does not appear eligible
under this category.

Criterion D: Represents the work of a master builder, designer or architect

Clubhouse: The clubhouse is one of the final and more inventive works of John F.
Galbraith A.lLA. (1923-2012), a modernist Pasadena architect who designed a
wide variety of post-war modern buildings. His buildings were recognized,
published, and epitomized larger trends in Modernism while rising above typical
post-war Modernism. The Avondale clubhouse represents a later phase of his
work which began to turn away from the rigidity of previous Modernism and
embraced other styles and more sculptural qualities. Therefore the Avondale

clubhouse appears eligible under this category.

Criterion E: Is an archaeological, paleontological, botanical, geological, topographical,

ecological, or geographical resource that has yielded or has the potential to yield
important information in history or prehistory.
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Clubhouse: A review of pre-history was not undertaken as part of this report.
Therefore the clubhouse does not appear eligible under this category.

Criterion F: Reflects distinctive examples of community planning or significant

development patterns, including those associated with different eras of settlement and

growth, agriculture, or transportation.

Clubhouse: The Avondale clubhouse was built amidst a distinct era of country
club development in the late 1960s and 70s along with projects such as
Marrakesh, Mission Hills, and Ironwood. These developments featured golf
courses surrounded by residences and centered around a clubhouse. In addition,
this particular phase of golf course development was noted for its themed
environments. The Avondale clubhouse epitomizes this trend of development
with its architectural clubhouse. Therefore the clubhouse appears eligible under

this category.

In conclusion, the Avondale clubhouse appears eligible for landmark status under

criterion D and F.
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Appendix A

Historic Congtruction Photographs
(All photos courtesy the Historical Society of Palm Degert)
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Appendix B
1974 Special Issue of the Degert Sun on Del Safari
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39-011 del SAFARI DRIVE, PALM DESERT, CALIFORNIA

(114) 3452727
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Appendix C
Chronology of Building Permits

1969 5/8
BZ169556
Pump for well

1969 7/7
BZ171273
Electric service and motors to sump pump

1969 7/8
BZ171279
Plan check for country club

1969 7/8
BZ171280
Plan check for gate house

1969 7/10

BZ171300

Gate house for country club
[finaled 1969 11/26]

1969 7/15

BZ171323

Country Club clubhouse
[finaled 1970 3/25]

1969 7/16
Bz171327
Temporary power pole

1969 8/1
BZ171408
Plan check for steel storage building

1969 8/6

BZ171428

Office and maintenance building
[finaled 10/16/1969)]
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1969 9/4
BZ172938
Temporary power pole

1970 8/6

BZ183909

Restroom on golf course
[finaled 1970 9/16]

1970 10/13

BZ184289

Elevator shaft for clubhouse
[finaled 2/23/1971]

1972 3/2
BZ201931
Gas lights on clubhouse

1978 3/27
BZ326250
Plan check over walkway

1978 4/18
BZ326829
Clubhouse roof structure over walkway

1994 4/4

93-00001697

Remodel club house ($112k valuation)
Robert H. Ricciardi AIA

1995 9/20
93-00005563
Unknown permit for guard house

1998 6/5

93-00012234

Interior demolition

James E. Simon Company

1998 8/4

93-00012844
Remodel clubhouse
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James E. Simon Company
Valued at $300k

1998 8/14
93-00012923
Fire sprinkler system

1998 9/30
93-00013396
Upgrade electrical panel

1998 10/6
93-00013445
Pump house

1999 1/27
93-00014443
Add seepage pit

2000 6/21
93-00018941
Remodel guard house

2001 1/17
93-00020498
Retaining walls

2001 8/1
93-00022363
Add walk-in cooler

2003 9/22

03-00029260
Reroof clubhouse
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such wholesome and restorative qualities
as the tender desert climate. del Safari's
privacy and its peaceful environs, year-
round golf and tenn plegant and func-
tional homes, the exotic and picturesque
clubhouse. And the people

The natural splendor of the California
desert inspired George Glickle .
ton Graham, developers of del
Country Club, to build the $1.5 m
clubhouse. The th story showplace
tlowers protectively over the emerald
peted golf course, sparkling blue lakes
plush homes. From the third-story Zan
Room there is an awe-nsp. 7 360
fegree  panc ic view of desert and
mountain vistas. Al night the clubhouse
a desert diadem. Extensive
ior illumination, drama Iy visible
es around, gives it the fantasy look
of an exotic castle.

The second level houses the Kilimanjare
Room, famed for its vivid and ch
atmosphere and its excelle uisine. The
first level houses the festive Nairobi Grille
and overlooks the 10,000,000-gallon Lake
Diamondi
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MASTERPIECE ON THE KNOLL — The del Safari Clubhouse stands majestically as
a celebrated landmark of the Palm Desert Community.

Festooning the walls of all three levels All
are African oil paintings and large murals
with conglomerate scenes of African wild-

fariland landsc

GEORGE GLICKILEY

total privac
entry and 24-hour patrol
surely and pleasant life style — the del
Safari way of life, already widely ren-
owned and promising a rich and royal
perpetuation

elegance is keyed to del Safari's
and security with gatehouse
and to its lei-

BURTON GRAHAM

FREE ESTIMATE

State Contractor
License No. 271769

READY MIXED CONCRETE

Grading & Paving Contractors
One of the Largest Equipment Fleets in the Valley

OFFICES LOCATED AT

Main Office 43850 Monroe, Indio

INDIO PLANT
Indio Blvd. & Monroe

347-3326

or 346-2274

PALM SPRINGS PLANT
North Indian Avenue

325-5222

MASSEY SAND & ROCK CO.

® Ready Mix Concrete
® Colored Ready
Mix Concrete
® Rock & Sand
® Crushed Road Material
® Plant Mixed Asphalt
® Fill Material
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STYLES AND SMILES — Susie

Byrne, Pro Shop Manager at
del Safari, can offer the fashion-minded lady or gentleman
the very latest in casual and sports attire from an expansive
variety of leading manufacturers.

Style, Conviviality
Abound At Clubhouse

The circalar, three-
Clubhouse is many thi
dents, For the mother of
a sweel respite from the
with an eye to a teley
can share his enthusiasm with
members at a community se

The country club’s popular focal point
offers something for everyone.

One of the more popular areas is the
room off the lobby. Available to all
ers, it provides the ideal setting
(and acoustics) for a rousing game of gin
rummy, a friendly pow wow, bridge or
the plush battlefield for a backgammon
tournament,

While the clubhouse becomes a veritable
desert diadem at night with its
Iy illuminated exterior. the dran
and design carries through to the interior.

ed sporting event

fellow

of a glant fireplace known to visitors of
Kenya. It is this masterful design with
its warming welcome that sets the s
for the highly valued paintings of Afri
life — wild and domestic — that are walled
throughout the interior.
Off the lobby, and offering spledifel
view of the greens and lakes, is the pro
~hop, a popular area under the direction
of Fred Scherzer and his manager, Susie
Byrne. A wide variety of sport and casula
; ns captures the most casual of pe-

To The Salton Sea
A View From Three Stories

There are places in Spain and castles
on the Rhine. And there are penthouses
on Park Avenue.

But there's only one Masterpiece on The
Knoll

The majestic Clubhouse of del Safari
Country Club stands proudly as a land-
mark of justified distinction. It looks like
a million dollars. And it is, give- or take
a few. It looks like the vanity squandering
of a potentate wasterel who winters in
Nairobi. But most of all it looks like home
to those already comfortably ensconsed on
the grounds of del Safari

There is nothing hall-way on this lush
knoll that man — and imagination — built.
IU's 360-degrees all the way, and that
includes the view. Up in the Zanzibar
Room, via a dramatic stairway or a non
stop clevator, one can relax on a clear
day and contemplate a cold dacquari and
a warming view of the Salton Sea at the
same time.

te with 380-degrees, dac-
quaries and the Salton Sea, so is the locker
room at ground ley

In truth, there are two locker rooms
Ladies take a left, men a right. Taking
a right, the locker area is luxuriously
carpeted and the lockers spacious, A
mahogany bar that’s comfortably com-
pact, is just off the carpeting. In another
direction, so is the sauna. In close proxim-

ity is the bootery parlor. Like the bar,
it is conscientiously attended

On the same level is the Nairabi Grille,
cheerfully beckoning for short orders and
Iong conversations, To the outside and
below, and very much in view, is the
sparkling Lake Diamondi and its ten mil-
lion gallons of water.

And throughout the clubhouse's 33,000
square feet is a fecling of belonging. Or
wanting to.

JIM SAUNDERS — Extends a wel-
coming hand to visitors in his ca-
pacity as sales director for del Sa-
fari properties.

COURT SPORT — Viewed from the second story pro shop,
the country club’s championship tennis courts are in play
12 hours daily. An additional three courts are scheduled
for this spring.

NEW CONSTRUCTION

SUNAIR

PLUMBING & AIR CONDITIONING

Lic. No. 230874

REMODELING

LICENSED - INSURED - BONDED

AIR CONDITIONING-HEATING

68730 SUMMIT DRIVE

CATHEDRAL CITY

SERVICE & REPAIR

328-6546

AMIRICAN
SIANLWAL

68 of 74




From Newfoundland to Mexico

del Safari Golf Course
Attracts North, South

In another clime and another place, a
wily sage once acknowledged, “there is
nothing more welcomed than a challenge.
And there is nothing more challenging
than competition.”

Probably no one area in the world com-
petes with greater fervor for the golfer
than the Coachella Valley. And no one golf
course in the area has mel the challenge
more professionally than the 18-hole
championship spread at del Safari.

In a short year following its opening in
1970, the del Safari course was enjoying
an international acclaim, with devotees
from Newfoundland to Mexico City count-
ing themselves as “reg and tying
the knot with substantial resident invest-
ments to ensure their wintertime joy

Desert golfers in the know have unani-
mously agreed that the first to meet the
seasoned eye al the del Safari course is
il tling departure from the tradition-
ally flat desert course. Builder Cal Hardin,
together with noted architect Jim Hines,
moulded and tamed rolling sand dunes on
the country club’s vast acreage into a
golfer's paradise. Their combined talents
added to a character and charm that is
echoed among its stalwarts from the north
and to the south. And, appropriately
overseeing the championship measure
7,010 yards with a par 72 rating is a
professional taking giant steps to the fore
among his contemporaries

Fred Scherzer has been at the helm of
the del Safari golf course from the be
ning. He answered the call of develo)
Burt Graham and George Glickley not as
a stranger to the Palm Desert community.
In 1960, following two years on the cele-
brated Northwestern University golf team,
he steppedd into the professional ranks,
dividing his Llime between Thorngate
Country *Club in Deerfield, 1ll. and La
Quinta Country Club during the winter
months.

An 18-month Army stint saw Fred per-
forming on the All-Army European golf
team in Berlin. Not long after his dis-
charge in 19 switched both Ilinois
and California alliances, moving to the
Biltmore Country Club in Barrington, and
Bermuda Dunes C.C. as assistant to head
pro Ed Vines in the local community.
During his tenure at Bermuda Dunes, he
married and, together with wife Marion
year-old daughter Denise, has
rt his permanent home
for the pasl seven years
for del Safari and its far-{lung
Fred Scherzer has maintained
his enthusiasm for the links he [irst rea-
lized at age nine when he was indoctrinat-
ed into the business of golf as a caddy
at the Indian Hill Club in Winnetka, (111.)

The same must be said for assistant pro
Ken Redfern, who is probably still too
young 1o lose his enthusiasm for anything,

In a hand-prepared biography for busi-
ness purposes, the U. of Arizona grad
(1972) notes that he 1s in his se
at del arl — adding “Incidentally, 1
am the finest assistant pro this side of
the 49th parallel. No brag — just fact.™

“Yes, that’s a fact,” echoes del Safari
resident Craig Dobbins, of Newfoundland.
“He spotted a hiteh or two in my approach
shots and probably knocked two strokes
off my handicap."

Scherzer agrees. And so does his wife
of 10 months, pretty Robin Glickley

Ken's credentials would suggest it’s
“fact,” too. At age 10 he caddied and
worked the bag room, locker room and
pro shop at St. Charles C.C. in Winnepeg,
one of Canada’s foremost courses, He rode
@ goll scholarship through the U. of Ari-
zona in Tucson — his indoctrination to
desert golling. Ken recently attended the
P.G.A. Business School in San Francisco

a necessary requirement to attain

P.G.A. Class A membership.

Professionally speaking, it’s apparent
the beauteous rolling greens al del Safari
are n accomplished hands. And pretty
ones, 1oo.

On the femme side, Scherzer and his
aide de camp are supported by no less
a figure than Sandra Palmer, one of the
leading dollar winners among the touring
lady professionals.

Desert  golfing comes naturally to
Phoenix-born Cal Hardin. He kicked up
a bit of dust and a divot or two when he
built the del Safari Course in 1969 — at
age 26, 11 rs after his father had done
the same for Bermuda Dunes. In the
process, Cal developed an affair of the
heart and stayed on as del Safarl’s greens
superintendent. The former San Fernando
Valley College Busin Administration
major is currently on the Board of Direc-
tors with the Hi Lo Desert Golf Course
Superintendent

But back to the course. The rolling
contours of the lush course is as modern

w

and up Lo date as Burt Reynolds, The tees
are long and they're wide, imparling a
rare playing flexibility amid an exhilara-
ting aura of spaciousness, The greens, ton,
have a generous, free flow about them,
measuring an average of 13,000 square
feet.

The beauty and playability of the del
Safari course did not come abou
dent, In addition to design and building
expertise, the setting is one in a subter
ranean reservoir and fed by nature’s gift
to the imposing M{. San Jacinto the
melting snows of spring time

The course is as green as the faces of
the competition. And it's lush. The gar-
gantuan acreage encompassed by the
course is completely watered by an auto-
matie sprinkler system. More than two
million gallons of water absorbed daily
— via more than 1,000 sprinkler heads.

Five lakes and five thousand trees dot
the luxury of this particular kind of lush
life. The lakes are positioned for beauti-
fication rather than for playing hazards
and contain over 50 million gallons of
water!

With the championship course measur-
ing 7,010 yards, the regular course mea-
sures out at 6,414 with a par of 72. The
women’s course is taped at 6,037 with a
par 74. Overall, it's nature’s gilt to the
particular — an abundance of scenery,
spaciousness, and water. In a word, the
del Safari course is a natural. No brag
— just fact.

Ask Ken Redfern.

TIME OUT — Celebrated performers on the Ladies
P.G.A. tour, Marlene Bauer Hagge (left) and Pam
Higgins, take time out during last week's outing at
del Safari course to get a grip on things with del
Safari's Fred Scherzer.
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DINING OUT — Mrs. Pat Brown and
the former California Governor can
be found at the club's dining room
when in the Palm Desert area. Pic-
ture above caught them during re-
cent dining visit.

With nature providing the setti
standing  professtonalism  caterin
tables and a quartetle of musicians enter-
taining, the picluresque dint om: of
del Safari stands as a al focal point
in a social oriented comm

un’

acious steps down fr
exotic decor of African mur
room, with its free swes
braces with a far-r
sioned view. Visitors
acclaimed the arca and

f the Tanganyika Lou
s mosl  breathlakin
point

ha

Supervising the grand setting is Michae!
Conway, lor
area’s leading food :
tors

Conway’s repy
Southern Calif

Special Nights
Invite Diners

The menu at del
it for the gourmet.

Under the supervision of Mike Conway
and chef Al Morale, the dining reom
encompasses a wide a a vartety
of lastes, with distinet h-Northern
F overtones.

Augmenting the menu is an interesting
schedule of Tuesday evenings, spotlight-
ing dining surprises from around the
world, The inaugural offering of *““An
Evening in Paris' — with musical strains
to match the culinary offerings — was
enthusiastically received and the **Around
The World Dining™ became a Tuesday
evening fixture

Chef Morale cooks lightly and carries
credentials with & career as head
ting back to the Lake Arrowhead
C.C. and, more recently, the Bermuda
Dunes and That John's in Palm Desert.

ari 18 a reading
de

HAPPY TIME — Mrs. Burton Graham takes time out
during a Tuesday Evening "Around The World Din-
ing’" at del Safari to chat with Bob Prescott (center),
Flying Tiger Airline prexy, and San Francisco orches-
tra leader, Jack Ross.
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Entertainment, Gourmet
Delights — And Nature’s
Selected Murals
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'ommy Wheat has been added to
jitar with Renner delighting with his
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> entertainment menu features mini-
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hits of the day. And, with it all. versatile
strains for the dancers of the
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Bob Thomas & Bob Cunard - Owners
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‘ No Sound Pollution Here

The del Safari is recognized in the Palm
Desert community for its brilliant lush
greens, panoramic scenery and sparkling
lak®;

hat is NOT commonly known is tha
it stands as a bustling transportation
center — of a sort

Recessed unobtrusively in the lower

del Safari Cart Fleet
One of Area’s Finest

even lelevision sets

Over 110 manhours are expended weekly
in the daily care and mail ance of the
ari fleet under the direction of
garage superintendent George Dudley

Howard Brown has been with the club
since it formally opened in January, 1970
As Sc

garage area. It's one of the bus
community — and certainly the qu s1 of an
As Service Director Howard Brown developm
Sums it, “True to ecological concerns, the fron!
there around the clix
residents

del Saf.
There
1

ying
The club's electric cart fleet is one of - around the
inest in the desert. Approximately 30 dining room
cent belong to residents with the

lut

> most luxurious to be found quietly
breezing aver any fairway. From colorful

painting to inleresting designs, they sporl  LaDouceur

the very latest in 1974 luxury — back seats  high and teamwork is the k

mverting the amin Meanwhile, back at the
a smile and tells you, “I've
est job in town.”

Dudley ea:
horns; radios and tape decks. Yes, and  got the qui

APPROVING EYE — del Safari professional Fred Scherzer, left,
casts an approving eye as assistant pro Ken Redfern tees off
with sparkling Lake Diamondi in the beckground. Redfern is
in his second year at the Palm Desert resort — and in his first

with lovely wife Robin. He's

¢ Director, encompassing all-
level of the Clubhouse is a sprawling maintenance and service crews, he
estin the  shoulders ane of the major respansibilities

(. Like the

k. 24 h

Sure, its a responsibilit

in the Kitchen. The morale is

ountry club and estate
curity patrol at
tmer

wrs dui

an
cook Jim

rage, George

a U. of Arizona graduate.

ONCE OVER BRIGHTLY — All is quiet on the electric cart
to efficiency front as del Safari Service Director Howard Brown (left) goes
"’ over a daily check list with cart fleet supervisor George
Dudley. Seventy-three vehicles are cared for and maintained
daily at club’s expansive lower level cart garage.

A Hole In One —
For Heaven’s Sake

Mnsgnor. Vincent Cooke, counting his
blessings, returned to the clubhouse sev
eral weeks ago and presented the
card that said it all: he had se

e

hole-an-one.
His good fortune came at the No. Eight
h 15 s. via a well controlled No

Four iron

The retired head of Catholic Charities
i Chicago is the reigning Handicap
1 al del Safari

building
materials

WE SERVE THE ENTIRE COACHELLA VALLEY
REDWOOD FENCING OUR SPECIALTY

DELIVERY SERVICE
OPEN MON. thru FRIDAYS 8 A.M. to 5 P.M.
ALL DAY SATURDAY-OPEN SUNDAYS 9 A.M. to 2 P.M.

HEADQUARTERS FOR DO-IT-YOUR-SELFERS

(347-2391 | &=

83700 INDIO BLVD. (One Block Eost of Hwy. 111) INDIO

WANCW A STORES,

* LUMBER
* SHELVING

* PLYWOOD

* CEMENT

* TOOLS

# AIR CONDITIONERS

* HARDWARE

* TRU-TEST PAINT

* ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES
* ROOFING MATERIALS
*IN

* DECORATIVE ROCK

® PLUMBING SUPPLIES

Churlie’s White’s

BLACKSMITH & WELDING

GATES
WROUGHT IRON FIXTURES Serving The Desert
SPANISH FURNITURE COMMERCIAL
RAILING:
UNIQUE BOUTIUE RESIDENTIAL
FREE
ESTIMATES

347-3401 347-1611

82880 REQUA AVE. INDIO

ornamental
iron

345-2419
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For Fun and Games

‘Women’s Liberation’
del Safari Style

There's a wonderful, wide women's
world at del Safar: Country Club — and
everyone's happy about the whole thing!

Those days when the male of the house
would tip his hal on an early morning
departure for the links or courts and do
4 solo run at the good times — with his
favorite blond bound housewife — are only
memories,

“*And bad ones, to,” chimes in a pretty.
but anonymous member of the del Safart
distaff set went through one year of
that in Shaker Heights and said ‘nuts!
— I'm getting outdoors if it's only to play
shuffleboard’. Today I'm into tennis datly
and put in about holes on the course
weekly

“And I'm not the only wife at del Safari
into this life style. I thought I was rather
unique. But when we bought our villa last
. | realized the old adage — you know,
rds of a feather'. Consequently, [ have
made many new friends — good friends
— becanse of this common bond.”

The esprit de corps among del Safari's
distaffers extends beyond the links and
courts, Some have assumed active rolls
in the club’s Wome Auxiliary, a very
functional orgamization that carries its

interests beyond the club's closed secu
gates and into community charity affairs

For the most part, distaff club members
do leave their feel for compe out-
doors, Many are bringing it inside, apply-
ing this zest to a variely of activities

mon tou with many first-year afl
cionados 2 the way. Others find their
way to the chess board
hand of bridg nd
complaint regi d. Just so the indepen-
dent lass finds her way back to the house.
And there are opinions. In the area of
sports fashon, a recent poll found half
of the local golfers stating — as an examp-
le — that the biggest need in golfing attire
15 more pockets as well as a more efficient
design of pockets, too shallow, too trim,
ete. Opines one member, “If the designers
would get out from behind their drawing
boards and get out on the courses. they'd
do a much better job.” M are down
on the golf dress and big for the dress-
shorts outfit as well as skirts-shorts and
even knickers. Hot pa and “'scooter
skirts™ (VERY short skirls) were on the
preferred list, As member miles cheer

HAPPY TALK
mix a laugh with business. Partaking are (left to right) Mrs
Alma Tozi, Mrs. Jay Albert Robinson, Mrs. George Glickley
Mrs. Bob Thomas and Mrs. Robert S. Halperin (seated)

— Oftficers of del Safari's Women's Auxiliary

“Women's Lib," as it's popularly
known, is only watered down to an easy
way of life at del Safari. (“If my husband
stopped opening doors and lighting
cigarettes I'd take a fast r
and buy a new dress!’) The big ¢ 3
for the liberation hasn’t hit the fairways
at least at del Safari. And. apparently
nationally, according to a poll of the top
U.S. women professional golf

These gals are quite content with the
rules of th v exist, And they
f at the suggestions of changing the
name of their organization (Ladies Pro
fessional Golf Association) to Women's
Tao, they prefer to play
Says Judy Kimball, a
pro tour: “In non
lly have a more prafessional
proach to the game t 4
arlene Bauer H:

tny

olfers

1e as

1 the ladies

better w

pla I compele against a
longer hitter men have the strength
to hit a longer ball. But not necessarily
amore accurate one.'

We take you now to Janie Blalock, 197
winner of the Din: re-Colg
Tournament and — of more pertinent

importance — a resident of del Safari
v off-tour golf witk

tour. If our tour we
be allowed an r
“I think the worst quality
have is negativism.”

" Also:

“

Sandra Palmer

del Safari’s
Sandra Palmer
A Winner

Sandra Palmer is a double joy to del”
ari Country Club. Not only is this
at tive L. 's PGA professional a resi
dent, but she also carries the del Safari
banner on the professional tour
andy is a winner. Not only in the terms
of dollars and cents (in the tep five for
the past three years) but as a person

The gal who has finished 14 times in
the Top 10, has apinions and answers
Asked 1if she could foresee mixed doubles
in golf as in tennis, Sandy said "Yes. 1
think the American public would like to
see a new twist, especially for television.™

Plaving with celebrities: "1 think it
helps of they are informed about the rules
of golf. But [ wouldn't care if Joe Namath
knew the rules or not'™

For the past four years, Sandy hi

er among, the LPGA. Her earn

this time have totaled over
lly.
The pretty winner enjoys the pleasure
the tour. Janie
r resident on the

del Safari fairways.
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HOAMS POOLS

State Lic. #130439

CONSTRUCTION MAINTENANCE REPAIRS

CHEMICALS EQUIPMENT SUPPLIES
METOS SAUNA FROM FINLAND
See Model at Office

**For Information Call™
Palm Desert 72381 Hwy. 111

346-2901

RESIDENTIAL
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL

LICENSE NO. 250253

SPRINKLERS

COMPLETE INSTALLATION & SERVICE

MANUAL OR AUTOMATIC
SPRINKLER SYSTEMS
CALL FOR “FREE ESTIMATES”

J.W. HUFF Sprinklers

LICENSED & BONDED STATE CONIRS.

346-6010
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Model Villas
Now Open
To Public

Lang ago, in another era. the discon-
tended would say they would change their
ways. Today, they change their life style.
New scenery. A new way to go.

One of the more direct steps for the
seekers in search of change i$ to say hello
to del Safari and enjoy & tour that points
to a new way to go. From the Executive
Homes to the Townhouse Villas, a new life
style is only a short tour away

With spaciousness, seclusion and secu-
rity as the kenote, there are designs for
every taste, and answer for every style
Model Villas were recently opened at del
Safari, and, consequently, so were the eyes
of the public

The overall beauty and variety of styl
ing is incentive enough for peru
with it all is the knowledge t
the land and the private pool
with it

If your life style includes getting away
from the crowds, then one facet of your
desires is accounted for. A total limit of
250 residential properties has been estab-
lished to e the excly and
openness so in demand today. Recognizing
this limit has heen set on a praperty of
650 acres says it all

to

BRIGHT AND OPEN — Living room spaciousness is clearly depicted in this del Safari
model Villa, with dining area at extreme upper left. Wet bar is at right of casual table
All Villas, with private pool-patio areas fronting on the fairway, are provided a tight,

24-hour security.

Del Safari's developers offer a passport
a new world life style with Villas

epitomizing the hippy art of homeman-
ship. Each plan features a conveniently
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SPACED OUT — The generous spacing of the pool and patio area is one of the favored
features of del Safari Villas. All of this and land ownership, too. Interference-free
television reception embracing many channels is provided via the cable system

CASUAL ELEGANCE — is evident in this scene of the driveway at the Villa’s front.
Villas range in square footage from 1,776 to 2,450. Land ownership is included with
each home purchase. All utilities are underground.

® FULL LIABILITY INSURANCE

WHITE’S CUSTOM ELECTRI

RESIDENTIAL & COMMERCIAL WIRING

STATE LIC. NO. C 10 212833

® ELECT!

RICAL CONTRACTOR

Serving the Palm Desert Area since 1964

74152 HWY. 111

PALM DESERT

346-8562

lacated wet bar in the spaciousness of a
dining-living room area and sunken
Roman tubs geared to a silent water
systemn that is as luxurious the more
obvious beamed, high ceilings, Garden-
like patios with fountains and waterfalls
are only subtle additions to the aura of
casual elegance.

And the basic joys are there, too. Huge
walk-in closets with built-in shoe racks
a pethora of linen closet space and an
cleetrie-doored two-car garage.

It's yours for the basking.

AINPROOF
ROOFING

* NEW ROOFS
* RECOVERING
* REPAIRS

WE'RE NOT SATISFIED
UNTIL YOU ARE!

Estimates
® RESIDENTIAL
® COMMERCIAL
® INDUSTRIAL

Serving the Entire
Coachella Valley

RE-ROOFING
RE-COVERING

“Tomorrow's Roof Today"'

346-1214

State Lic. No. 161219

68760 SUMMIT DR.
CATHEDRAL CITY

73 of 74



Appendix D

Latter of Authorization

B
Vs
AVONDALE

GOLF CLUB
March 15", 2024

Mr. Luke Leuschner

RE: Avondale Golf Club

Dear Luke:

In response to your e-mail dated March 13", 2024, the legal name of the club is “Avondale
Golf Club”. The club and golf course are owned soley by the equity members of the club.
As the General Manager/COO of the Avondale Golf Club, | am authorized to have you
handle the nomination of the Club for historical status with the City of Palm Desert. Please
consider this letter as authorization to continue the nomination process on behalf of the
Club.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,
0. bom—
Rick Bauer

GM/CO0
Avondale Golf Club
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